

## Original Research Article

### DETERMINANTS OF MENTAL HEALTH STATUS OF YOUTHS DURING COVID-19 IN ANDONI LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA OF RIVERS STATE

#### ABSTRACT

This study investigated the determinants of mental health status of youths during COVID-19 in Andoni Local Government Area. The design for this study was descriptive cross sectional survey design. The population for the study consisted one hundred and sixteen thousand, eight hundred and twenty six youths (116, 826). The sample size of the study was 600 youths which was estimated using Taro Yamane's method for a large population. Multistage sampling procedure was adopted for the study to select the sample. The instrument used for data collection was the questionnaire titled: "Determinants of Mental Health Status Questionnaire (DMHSQ). The validated instrument had a reliability coefficient of 0.74. which was high enough and was used for this study. The data was analysed using the Statistical Products for Service Solution (SPSS) version 25.0. The result of this study indicated that the determinants of mental health among youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area. The result of this study showed that there was a very high positive relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.922$ ). The result of this study also indicated that there was a very high positive relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.931$ ). The result of this study illustrated that there was a high positive relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.887$ ), and that there was a very high positive relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.949$ ). The findings further revealed that there was a very high positive relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.943$ ). The study concluded that the upsurge of COVID 19 to a large extent affected the mental and social health status of youths in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State, the following recommendations were made; government should implement mental health promotion/education efforts and keep adequate information about the content and benefits of evidence-based treatments and encourage males to participate in other potentially beneficial actions.

**Keywords:** COVID 19, Mental health, Youth, Andoni, Rivers State

## Introduction

Mental health disorders are a concern for people of all ages, from early childhood through old age. Several factors have been linked to mental health, including race and ethnicity, gender, age, income level, education level, sexual orientation, and geographic location. Other social conditions such as interpersonal, family, and community dynamics, housing quality, social support, employment opportunities and work and school condition can also influence mental health risk and outcomes, both positively and negatively. For example, safe shared places for people to interact, such as parks and churches, can support positive mental health. The emergence of COVID 19 brought tension and anxiety to the government and the population. It affected the physical, mental and social well-being (Rahman et al. 2021). Mental health includes our emotional, psychological, and social well-being. It affects how we think, feel, and act. It also helps determine how we handle stress, relate to others, and make choices. Mental health is important at every stage of life, from childhood and adolescence through adulthood. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, specifically during the lockdown has led to short and even long term mental health involvement (Rahman and Rahaman, 2021, Singh et al, 2020). During the lockdown those children with special needs had faced challenges. Young adults had difficulties in following instruction as well as actually understanding the whole idea of the pandemic, and even doing assigned independent work (Rahaman et al., 2020; Hossain et al., 2020).

With the impact of closed activities during COVID 19 several factors affected the psychological status of most people, many were unable to get the resources and peer interaction that they were getting before, (Singh et al, 2020). This is because of the upsurge of COVID 19 brought confusion that no one was able to adopt preventive measures except the prescription from the government such as physical and social distancing, use of face mask, face shield and regular use of alcohol-based sanitizer when touching objects among others.

**Comment [U1]:** Rahman, M. M., Uddin, M. B., Chowdhury, M. S., & Rahaman, M. S. (2021a). Psychological Status of Private Commercial Bank Employees in Bangladesh during COVID-19. *Journal of Business Strategy Finance and Management*, 2(2). 66-73

**Comment [U2]:** Rahman, M., & Rahaman, S. (2021). Home Quarantine Challenges and Psychological Status of Bangladeshi University Students during COVID-19. *Journal of Education, Management and Development Studies*, 1(2), 1-9.

**Comment [U3]:** Rahaman, M. S., Rahman, M. M., & Moral, I. H. (2020). Informative knowledge and challenges of home quarantine during COVID-19 in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Technology Transfer and Commercialisation*, 17(4), 354-367.

**Comment [U4]:** Hossain, M. I., Polas, M. R. H., Rahman, M. M., Islam, T., & Jamadar, Y. (2020). An exploration of COVID-19 pandemic and its consequences on FMCG industry in Bangladesh. *Journal of Management Info*, 7(3), 145-155.

The way youth think and act were influenced by the emergence of COVID 19 of the extreme limitation of movement even among friends.

There can be long-term consequences due to the COVID-19 pandemic especially on the mental health of the population including the youth (Inter-Agency Standing Committee Guidelines on Mental Health and Psychosocial Support (IASC), (2020). Deterioration of social networks and economies, stigma towards survivors of COVID-19, possible higher anger and aggression towards frontline workers and the government, possible anger, anxiety and aggression against young adult, and possible mistrust of information were symptomatic to mental ill-health. David et al (2002) asserted that most aspects of mental illness and psychological well-being are influenced by social factors (such as gender, social class, race and ethnicity, and household patterns) and social institutions (such as disability and social security systems, labour markets, and health care organizations). The capacity to cope effectively with growing numbers of persons with mental illness and/or dementia depend substantially on the social arrangements affecting family, work, income support and medical care. The epidemiology of mental illness in later life is complicated by the relationships among symptom occurrence, drug use, and physical illness and the varying ways individuals and families define illness, evaluate its significance and take remedial action. Evidently, Hertel (2020) revealed that the use of protective material during COVID 19 was earlier ignored because of poor facial expression. Age cohorts and varying ethnic groups, respond differently in recognizing psychological symptoms, in perceptions of stigma and in willingness to seek help. With aging of the population, the cumulative burdens of mental illness are increasing in most societies. Such burdens depend not only on the magnitude of dementia, depression, schizophrenia and other mental illnesses but the types of social supports and institutional arrangements that help to insulate individuals, families and communities from the most disruptive stresses and facilitate functioning. The way in which male react to

the menace of COVID 19 during the emergence could not be the same way the female do. Xiong et al, (2021) carried out a study to determine factors influencing mental health revealed that the effects of COVID 19 on the mental health of the population differs relatively among male and female. The mental distress could be much among youth because of their involvement in productive activities such as jobs or businesses, sports, schools and recreational events. Mental health issues may also be due to self-isolating or being in quarantine (Rahaman et al., 2021). This was poised to the fact that youth in Andoni Local Government Area relate poorly to the environment leading psychological distress. Hence this study seeks to investigate the determinants of mental health status among youth in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State.

### **Purpose of the study**

The purpose of the study was to investigate the determinants of mental health status of youths during COVID-19 in Andoni Local Government Area. Specifically this study seek to achieve the following objectives:

1. ascertain the determinants of mental health among youths during covid19 in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State;
2. determine the relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State;
3. determine the relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State;
4. determine the relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State;
5. determine the relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State.

**Comment [U5]:** Rahaman, M. S., Moral, I. H., Rahman, M. M., Sahabuddin, M., & Samuel, A. B. (2021). Online Learning in Bangladesh during COVID-19: Perceived Effectiveness, Challenges, and Suggestions. *Journal of Education, Management and Development Studies*, 1(3), 35-47.

## Research questions;

The following research questions were postulated to guide the study;

1. What are the determinants of mental health among youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State?
2. What's the relationship between age and mental health of youths during Covid-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State?
3. What's the relationship between gender and mental health of youths during Covid-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State?
4. What's the relationship between religion and mental health of youths during Covid-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State?
5. What's the relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during Covid-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State?

**Comment [U6]:** No need this part as you have already mentioned the objectives.

## Hypotheses

The null hypotheses of this study were formulated and tested at 0.05 alpha level.

- 1 There is no significant relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State;
- 2 There is no significant relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State;
- 3 There is no significant relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State;
- 4 There is no significant relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State;

**Comment [U7]:** Before formulating the hypotheses, you should give some literature support to ensure the quality of the paper.

## Methods and Materials

**Comment [U8]:** Please state the sampling technique.

The design for this study was descriptive cross sectional survey design. Descriptive survey was chosen because it is concerned with condition that exist in a natural setting, the practices that prevail, and the attitudes that are developing during the era COVID 19. The population of this study was one hundred and sixteen thousand, eight hundred and twenty six youths used for the study (116, 826) (Population Projection Census, 2016). The sample size of the study was estimated using Yaro Yamane's method for a quite population. The sample size was 600.

Taro Yamene formula

$$n = \frac{N}{1 + N (e)^2}$$

Multistage sampling techniques were adopted for the study. The instrument used for data collection was the questionnaire, titled: "Determinants of Mental Health Status Questionnaire (DMHSQ). Cronbach Alpha was used to determine the reliability index which was ( $r=0.74$ ) at the p-value 0.05. The data was analysed using the Statistical Products for Service Solution (SPSS) version 25.0.

## Results

**Table 1. Determinants of mental health among youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area**

SN	Items	Mean	S.D.
1	Younger adults are likely to have anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic era	3.36	.75
2	Younger adults are more likely to show symptoms of depression during the COVID-19 pandemic	3.11	.81
3	Younger adults who are education could show no symptoms of anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic	2.71	.98
4	Younger adults are mentally worried due to physical threat of COVID-19	2.52	1.03
5	Anxiety due to low income level during COVID-19	3.02	.86
6	Younger adults may likely have aggression with peers due to social distancing of COVID-19	2.75	.98
7	Emotional instability among youths because of social distancing during COVID-19	2.71	1.06
<b>Grand mean</b>		<b>2.88</b>	<b>0.92</b>

Criterion mean =2.50

The result showed that the determinants included: being educated ( $2.71 \pm 0.98$ ), physical threat of COVID-19 ( $2.52 \pm 1.03$ ), social distancing of COVID-19 ( $2.75 \pm 0.98$ ) and emotional instability ( $2.71 \pm 1.06$ ).

**Table 2: Regression analysis on relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic**

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson	Decision
1	.922	.850	.849	1.128	1.369	Very high relationship

The result showed that there was a very high positive relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.922$ ). The result further showed that age contributed 85.0% of the variance in the mental health status of the youths ( $R^2 = 0.850$ ). Thus,

the relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni LGA was very high.

**Table 3: Regression analysis on relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic**

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson	Decision
1	.931	.866	.865	1.0652	2.063	Very high relationship

The result showed that there was a very high positive relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.931$ ). The result further showed that gender contributed 86.6% of the variance in the mental health status of the youths ( $R^2 = 0.866$ ). Thus, the relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni was very high.

**Table 4: Regression analysis on relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic**

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson	Decision
1	.887	.787	.787	1.34175	1.443	High relationship

The result showed that there was a high positive relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.887$ ). The result further showed that religion contributed 78.7% of the variance in the mental health status of the youths ( $R^2 = 0.787$ ). Thus, the relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni was high.



**Table 5: Regression analysis on relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic**

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson	Decision
1	.949	.900	.899	0.9209	1.434	Very High relationship

The result showed that there was a very high positive relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.949$ ). The result further showed that socioeconomic status contributed 90.0% of the variance in the mental health status of the youths ( $R^2 = 0.900$ ). Thus, the relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni was very high.

**Table 6: Regression analysis on relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State**

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Decision
1	Regression	2221.322	1	2221.322	1744.7	.000*	Rejected
	Residual	393.401	309	1.273			
	Total	2614.723 <sup>d</sup>	310				

\*Significant  $P < 0.05$

The result showed that there was a very high positive relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.943$ ). The null hypothesis was thus rejected.

**Table 7: Regression analysis on relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State**

Model		Sum of Squares	Df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Decision
1	Regression	2264.061	1	2264.061	1995.0	.000 <sup>*</sup>	Rejected
	Residual	350.662	309	1.135			
	Total	2614.723 <sup>d</sup>	310				

**\*Significant P < 0.05**

The findings of the study showed that there was a significant relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic [  $F(1,309) = 1995.06, p < 0.05$ ]. The null hypothesis which stated that there is no significant relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State was thus rejected.

**Hypothesis 3:** There is no significant relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State

**Table 8: Regression analysis on relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State**

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Decision
1	Regression	2058.433	1	2058.433	1143.3	.000*	Rejected
	Residual	556.290	309	1.800			
	Total	2614.723 <sup>d</sup>	310				

\*Significant  $P < 0.05$

The findings of the study showed that there was a significant relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic [  $F(1,309) = 1143.38, p < 0.05$ ]. The null hypothesis was thus, rejected.

**Hypothesis 4:** There is no significant relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State

**Table 9: Regression analysis on relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State**

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Decision
1	Regression	2352.671	1	2352.671	2774.1	.000*	Rejected
	Residual	262.052	309	.848			
	Total	2614.723 <sup>d</sup>	310				

\*Significant P < 0.05

The findings of the study showed that there was a significant relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic [ F(1,309) = 2774.16, p<0.05). The null hypothesis was thus, rejected.

#### Discussion of Findings

#### Determinants of mental health during COVID-19

The result of this study revealed that determinants of mental health among youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni Local Government Area at (2.88+/-092). The result of this study was expected because the upsurge of COVID-19 limits the activities of people especially youth affecting the way they think and relate with others mostly during physical distancing. The result of this study is in credence with studies of Harandi, *et al*, (2017) that the era of COVID-19 pandemic have caused anxiety on the lives of youth and populace of the affected regions. Abdul et al, (2016) affirmed that disease pandemic is over 3times more significantly to cause depression among the population (AOR = 3.27). Xiong *et al*, (2021) added that people had moderate to severe levels of depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms, respectively during the era of COVID-19. It is pertinent to note that the outbreak of disease

like COVID-19 pandemic can cause confusion and mental health problem due to inability to meet the up living and well-being. There is no prior studies that contradict with the outcome of the current findings.

### **Age and mental health during COVID 19**

The findings of the study showed that there was a significant relationship between age and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $p < 0.05$ ). The result of this study is not surprising because mental development of youth can be determined by their age which is closely linked with maturity. As one grows older in age he/she also advances in mental health. The result of this study is in keeping with findings of Xiong et al, (2021) that mental distress of students during the early stage of COVID 19 pandemic was high in regard with their age. The result of this study is also in line with studies of Harandi, et al (2017) age showed a significant correlation with the prevalence of mental health problems among the populace. Travasso, et al, (2014) added that the mental health status of individual differ in the chronological age especially during disease pandemic. Jokela et al, (2013) buttressed that the occurrence of mental health problem are likely to be high as one increases with age. Previously, Alexander et al (2000) affirmed that one of the individual characteristics that is associated with prognostic expectation, management and improvement of mental health is age. It is plausible because the mental development of individual may affected when he/she are at risk of contracting pandemic disease such as COVID 19 and others especially in regard with their age advancement. However, as of the time of this study, there was no prior findings that contradicts with the outcome of this study.

### **Gender and mental health during COVID 19**

The result of this study in illustrated that the relationship between gender and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni LGA was very high ( $r = 0.931$ ). The result of this study is in required because mental health status of youth varies among male and

female. The upsurge of COVID 19 pandemic resulted in different ways of reasoning among population such the way they conceived about the disease are likely to differ in respect with male and female. The result of this study is in line with studies of Xiong et al, (2021) that there was difference in the reaction of male and female's mental health during the early stages of COVID 19, such as; depression, anxiety, stress among others due to limitation of movement and relation with others. Studies of Bacigalupe et al, (2020) revealed that there was gender inequalities on the mental health problems especially in the process of medicalization. Harandi, et al, (2017) added that relatively high effect size of the correlation between social support and mental health in regard with gender of the population, Abdul et al, (2016) revealed that the prevalence of mental health problems among residents differ significantly based on the gender disposition. Studies of Seedat et al, (2009) buttressed that gender differences in most lifetime mental disorders were fairly stable. In the contrary, studies of Ehsan et al, (2019) showed that there was numerous non-significant and negative relationship with the mental health and physical health status of the population based on gender. The disparity between the present study and previous findings were due to location and duration of the study, sample of the study.

#### **Religion and mental health status**

The result of this study depicted that the relationship between religion and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic in Andoni LGA was high ( $r = 0.887$ ). This result is expected because every individual holds unto the belief they profess which affects the way they reason and understand situation or condition even during the era of COVID 19. The result of this study is in keeping with studies by Travasso, et al, (2014) that cultural belief of a population significantly determine the mental well-being of the individual. Dening et al, (2004) buttressed that the ethnic background of the population showed a significant impact on the mental ill-health and use of health service especially when there is global public health

issues such as COVID 19. The result of this study are also in keeping with studies of Bacigalupe et al, (2020) who reported that there was a strong relationship between cultural and health care level especially in the containment of public health issues. Kim et al, (2020) affirmed that the present of COVID-19 brought about high level of religious and ethnic isolation following the behavioural changes in the population. Walker et al, (2020) revealed that religiosity was independently associated with the increase in public health problems in a population. Lahelma et al, (2002) added that certain religions are likely to encourage gender isolation and loneliness among population. As at the time of this study, there was no prior studies that contradicted the findings of the current study.

#### **Socio-economic status and mental health during COVID 19 pandemic.**

The result of this study illustrated that there was a very high positive relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health of youths during COVID-19 pandemic ( $r = 0.949$ ). The result of this study is expected because socioeconomic status which includes the income status, employment status, standard of living, family type and social support which determine the level of reasoning and understanding of situation and condition that affects health. Those with low SES may encounter mental health problems when facing global or public health problem like COVID-19. The result of this study is in credence with studies of Walker et al, (2020) that cost of medication and financial hardship of the family was high during the era of COVID-19 which in turn affects their mental health. The result of this study is in credence with studies of Abdul et al, (2016) that living with the family was over 4 times more likely to contribute to mental ill-health among the populace (AOR = 4.98). Lahelma et al, (2002) previously added that there was high association between financial imbalance, employment status and perceived health problem in a given population. Alexander et al (2000) affirmed that individual characteristics significantly associated with prognostic expectations was occupation. In the contrary, Lahelma et al, (2002) revealed that education

and household income weakened the association between family type and poor health. The difference between the result of the prior study and current findings were due to duration and location of the study including the sample representation.

### **Conclusion**

The study concluded that upsurge of COVID 19 to a large extent determine the mental health status of youths in Andoni Local Government Area of Rivers State. However, the factors that determine the mental health status of youth during the era of COVID-19 pandemic were significantly high based on age, gender, religion, socioeconomic status respectively.

### **Recommendations**

In regards to the findings of this study, the following recommendations were made;

1. Government should implement mental health promotion/education efforts that would incorporate information about the content and benefits of evidence-based treatments and encourage males to participate in other potentially beneficial actions.
2. Government should provide social support among young people which may serve as a protective buffer to mental health problems especially during the emergence of disease outbreak.
3. Religious bodies should introduce counselling service to their members so as to improve and promote mental well-being targeted at curbing the effect of wrong perception accompanying with COVID-19.
4. The school should provide should ensure mental health literacy across the various ages with appropriate messages about mental health as required for younger and older age groups.

**Comment [U9]:** Please add some contributions with conclusion.



5. Government should introduce empowerment programmes to reduce the aftermath of COVID-19 among the population especially productive youth so that their mental health will be improved on.

## REFEERENCES

- Abdul Manaf, M. R., Mustafa, M., Abdul Rahman MR, Yusof, K.H., & Abd Aziz, N.A. (2016) Factors influencing the prevalence of mental health problems among Malay elderly residing in a rural community: A Cross-Sectional Study. *PLoS ONE* 11(6): e0156937.
- Alexander JA, Lichtenstein R, D'Aunno T. A., McCormick R, Muramatsu N, Ullman E., (2000). Determinants of mental health providers' expectations of patients' improvement. *Psychiatric Service*; 48(5):671-7. doi: 10.1176.
- Bacigalupe, A, Cabezas, A, Bueno, M. B, & Martín, U. (2020). El género como determinante de la salud mental y su medicalización. Informe SESPAS 2020 [Gender as a determinant of mental health and its medicalization. SESPAS Report 2020]. *Gac Sanitation*. 34 1:61-67.. doi: 10.1016.
- Dening, T, & Barapatre C. (2004). Mental health and the ageing population. *Journal of British Menopause* 10(2):49-53, 64. doi: 10.1258
- Ehsan, A., Klass, H. S., Bastianen, A., & Spini, D.,(2019). Social capital and health: a systematic review of systematic reviews. *SSM-Population Health*, 8, 100425.
- Harandi, T. F., Taghinasab, M. M., & Nayeri, T. D. (2017). The correlation of social support with mental health: A meta-analysis. *Electronic physician*, 9(9), 5212–5222. doi.10.19082.
- Hertel, R. A. (2020). The Use of Psychological PPE in the Face of COVID-19. *Medicine and Surgical Nursing*, 29(5), 293–296.
- Hossain, M. I., Polas, M. R. H., Rahman, M. M., Islam, T., & Jamadar, Y. (2020). An exploration of COVID-19 pandemic and its consequences on FMCG industry in Bangladesh. *Journal of Management Info*, 7(3), 145-155
- Jokela, M., Batty, G. D, & Kivimäki, M. (2013). Ageing and the prevalence and treatment of mental health problems. *Psychology of Medicine*. 43(10):2037-45. doi: 10.1017.

- Inter-Agency Standing Committee Guidelines on Mental Health and Psychosocial support" (PDF). MH Innovation. Archived (PDF) from the original on 31 March 2020. Retrieved 28 March 2020
- Kim, J. K., & Crimmins, E. M. (2020). How does age affect personal and social reactions to COVID-19: Results from the national Understanding America study. *PLoS ONE* 15(11): e0241950. doi:10.1371.
- Lahelma, E., Arber, S., Kivelä, K., & Roos, E. (2002). Multiple roles and health among British and Finnish women: the influence of socioeconomic circumstances. *Social Science Medicine*, 54(5):727-40. doi: 10.1016.
- Lee, J. (2020). "Mental health effects of school closures during COVID-19". *The Lancet. Child & Adolescent Health*. 4 (6): 421. doi:10.1016.
- Rahman, M. M., Uddin, M. B., Chowdhury, M. S., & Rahaman, M. S. (2021a). Psychological Status of Private Commercial Bank Employees in Bangladesh during COVID-19. *Journal of Business Strategy Finance and Management*, 2(2). 66-73
- Rahman, M., & Rahaman, S. (2021). Home Quarantine Challenges and Psychological Status of Bangladeshi University Students during COVID-19. *Journal of Education, Management and Development Studies*, 1(2), 1-9.
- Rahaman, M. S., Rahman, M. M., & Moral, I. H. (2020). Informative knowledge and challenges of home quarantine during COVID-19 in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Technology Transfer and Commercialisation*, 17(4), 354-367.
- Rahaman, M. S., Moral, I. H., Rahman, M. M., Sahabuddin, M., & Samuel, A. B. (2021). Online Learning in Bangladesh during COVID-19: Perceived Effectiveness, Challenges, and Suggestions. *Journal of Education, Management and Development Studies*, 1(3), 35-47.
- Seedat, S., Scott, K. M., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2009). Cross-National Associations between Gender and Mental Disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. *Archives of General Psychiatry*. 66(7):785795. doi:10.1001.
- Singh, S., Roy, D., Sinha, K, Parveen, S, Sharma, G., & Joshi, G. (2020). "Impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on mental health of children and adolescents: A narrative review with recommendations". *Psychiatry Research*. 293:13429. doi:10.1016.

- Travasso, S.M., Rajaraman, D. & Heymann, S.J. (2014). A qualitative study of factors affecting mental health amongst low-income working mothers in Bangalore, India. *BMC Women's Health* 14, 22 doi.10.1186.
- Walker, R. J, Garacci, E, Palatnik, A, Ozieh, M. N.,& Egede, L. E. (2020).The longitudinal influence of social determinants of health on glycemic control in elderly adults with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*; 43(4):759-766. doi: 10.2337.
- World Health Organization (2013). The economics of social determinants of health and health inequalities: a resource book (PDF). World Health Organization
- World Health Organization(2011). World conference on social determinants of health, Rio political declaration on social determinants of health (21 October 2011)
- Xiong, P., Ming, W. K., Zhang C, Bai J, Luo, C., Cao W., Zhang, F, & Tao, Q. (2021) Factors Influencing Mental Health Among Chinese Medical and Non-medical Students in the Early Stage of the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Frontiers Public Health*; 9:603331. doi: 10.3389.